
NPS Form 10-900 
(3-82) OMB No. 1024-0018 

Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 
Inventory—Nomination Form
See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms
Type all entries—complete applicable sections_____________

1. Name

For NPS use only 

received SEP 2 6 

date entered

historic Baird Hardware Company Warehouse

and or common Baird Center

2. Location
street & number 619 S. Main Street not for publication

city, town Gainesville vicinity of

state Florida code county Alachua
code

3. Classification
Category Ownership

district public
X building(s) X private

structure both
site Public Acquisition

__ object / in process 
^X^ being considered

Status
X occupied 

unoccupied
work in progress

Accessible
X yes: restricted 
__ yes: unrestricted "no

Present Use
__ agriculture 

X commercial 
educational
entertainment
government

_X_ industrial 
military

__ museum 
park
private residence
religious

__ scientific 
__ transportation 

other:

4. Owner of Property

name Akira and Associates

street & number 619 S. Main Street

city, town Gainesville vicinity of state Florida

5. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Alachua County Courthouse

street & number 201 E. University Avenue

city, town
Gainesville state

Florida

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

title has this property been determined eligible? yes * no

date 1980 federal state county local

depository for survey records City of Gainesvi lie

city, town Gainesville state Florida



7. Description

Condition
x ei$tellent

fair

deteriorated
ruins

unexposed

Check one
unaltered

X altered

Check one
X original site

moved date

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

Summary

The Baird Hardware Company Warehouse is a single story brick building 
comprised of two wings, each approximately 200' x 50' forming a right 
angle L. It is an example of early 20th century utilitarian architecture 
with minimal architectural adornment. Its most prominent structural feature 
is its massive roof truss system, designed to span the width of the build­ 
ing without intermediate support, so as to provide maximum unobstructed 
s'torage space within the exterior walls.

Site

The Baird Hardware Company Warehouse is located in the southeastern 
secti'on of the central core 'of Gaine'sville, "Florrda, a city of 81,000 
population.- ft'is- situated on one-half of a city block inr a mixed resi­ 
dential, cdramercial, ' and'industrial neighborhood "environment. The building 
dominates the northern half of the site, with a large open area on the 
South side and an entrance road and parking area to the North. Four 
non-contributing s-tructures are located on the site: a small concrete 
block storage shed adjacent to the entrance gate near the northwest corner 
of the site, a large c. 1950 cement block warehouse in the northeast cor­ 
ner, a small lumber storage shed in the southeast corner, and a brick 
walkway flanked by planters at the main entrance in the interior corner of 
the L.

Original Appearance

The Baird Warehouse was built as- a utilitarian structure, designed to 
take advantage of its location near the crossover of the two major rail­ 
roads serving the community, and to serve as a receiving and distribution 
center for'the wide range of building supplies, farming equipment, and 
general hardware handled by the Baird firm. Its two long wings form an 
L, designed to accomodate separate rail spurs served by the Atlantic 
Coast Line and the Seaboard Air Line railroads. A 10 foot wide wooden 
loading dock, set on brick piers, ran the full length of the West and 
South facades. A separate storage building was located immediately to the 
East of the North end of the building, and connected to it by a short load­ 
ing dock is believed to have been built at the same time, but may have been 
added at some time prior to 1928.

The exterior brick walls, set on concrete footings , are three wythes 
in thickness. Each wythe was laid in English bond, with 4 or 5 stretcher 
courses between each header 'course. The header courses, staggered verti­ 
cally across the center wythes, serve to tie the exterior and interior 
wythes together.

(See Continuation Sheet)
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Fene£.tration was regular on the South and West facades, with 
loading doors at regular intervals, and two windows are evenly spaced 
in the interstices (Photo 3). At the end of the North wing, a single 
loading door was flanked by two evenly spaced windows (Photo 4). On 
the East and North sides, the spacing of the loading doors was irregular, 
and the number of intervening windows varied (Photo 5). The northeast 
corner of the East wing was clipped at a 45° angle. A single loading 
door was set in this diagonal wall segment, and five windows were set in 
the gabled end wall (Photo 7). All windows were 3 over 3 fixed sash, of 
uniform size, and except for the two located high in the gable of the East 
wing, were at uniform height approximately 6 feet above the main floor 
level. The doors were a common industrial type of uniform size and style, 
constructed of vertical plank with horizontal batten bracing, mounted on 
the interior wall to slide into surface mounted wooden pockets. Doors 
located in the East half of the East wing were at a lower level than the 
others, reflecting a change in the interior floor level.

The original wood shingle roof was devoid of openings, and was 
supported by a massive truss system that is the most impressive architec­ 
tural element of the building as well as its dominant interior feature. 
Supported only by the exterior walls, the trusses span the full 50 foot 
width of each wing. The top and bottom chord of each truss are composed 
of five 2 x 12 inch heart pine timbers bolted together. The chords are 
tied together by four diagonal braces of 6 x 12 inch timber and five h inch 
steel tie rods (Photos 10, 11, and 13). The trusses were spaced approx­ 
imately 14 feet on center, converging at a monumental hip truss at the 
crotch of the building. This was the only truss with intermediate support 
from below, a single 8x8 inch post at its center point. The trusses 
were connected by 2 x 8 inch purlins ledgered on and set flush with the 
top chords, which supported the roof deck of diagonal planking.

The floors were unfinished pine planking throughout. The interior 
space was unobstructed except for three small partitioned rooms: a ship­ 
ping office and a heavily constructed st6reroom for firearms and ammunition 
were located near the juncture of the wings, and a small plumbing supply 
office occupied a corner of the North end. Wooden shelving was probably 
installed in various locations and modified or relocated from time to 
time to meet changing storage requirements.

There were no sanitation facilities in the building, but fire 
protection was provided by a sprinkler system extending throughout 
the building (Photo 12).

(See Continuation Sheet)
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Alterations and Present Appearance

Only one noticeable alteration appears to have been made to the 
building throughout its 70 years as a warehouse. This occurred in 1938, 
when the wood shingle roofing material was replaced with galvanized steel. 
Site alterations during this period included the construction, circa 
1950, of a large cement block warehouse immediately north of the East 
wing and the small open lumber storage shed off the southeast corner.

Although the conversion of the building to multiple adaptive uses 
after 1981 resulted in the demolition of the small, detached storage 
building adjacent to the North wing, no structural alterations were made 
to the warehouse building itself. Some minor exterior modifications and 
extensive non-structural interior installations were required, but were 
accomplished with minimal impact on the historic character and appearance 
of the building.

No significant exterior features were removed. Code compliance 
required the replacement of three original doors in the South facade, one 
at the North end, and four in the East facade and interior corner of the 
L, all of which provide access to and egress from office and studio 
spaces. In the South facade, French doors with fixed sidelites were 
installed directly in the original openings (Photo 2). At the North end, 
a single swinging door with sidelites was similarly installed (Photo 4). 
At the four public entrances at the interior angle, French doors were 
set back in shallow entry vestibules, and an 8 foot wide veranda with a 
wooden deck supported on brick piers and a galvanized steel roof supported 
by simple pine posts was installed to provide access (Photos 5 and 9).

Interior alteration included the removal of the partitions forming 
the two small shipping offices and firearms storeroom and the wooden 
storage shelves. Salvaged lumber was reused to build the entry vestibules
(Photo 9) and in the construction of new partitions to create office and 
studio spaces in the North wing and the West half of the East wing
(Photos 8, 9 and 11). In these areas, a new floor was installed over the 
existing original floor, which remains in place. The East end of the East 
wing now houses a woodworking shop, and remains essentially unaltered
(Photo 13).

The original sprinkler system was refurbished and remains in use 
(Photo 12), electrical service was modified and expanded, sanitation 
facilities and a heating and air conditioning system installed. While 
these installations are largely unconcealed, their visual impact is not 
excessively intrusive.

(See Continuation Sheet)
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Despite the alterations described above, the Baird Hardware 
Company Warehouse retains the essential structural and architectural 
integrity that reflect its character and appearance throughout its 
historical use as a commercial warehouse.



8. Significance
Period
__ prehistoric 
__1400-1499 
__1500-1599 
__1600-1699 
__1700-1799 
__1800-1899 
_JL 1900-

Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
__ archeology-prehistoric 
__ archeology-historic 
__ agriculture 
__ architecture 
__art
-_X_ commerce 
__ communications

_ __ community planning
__ conservation
__ economics
__ education
..._.... engineering
._. exploration/settlement
.__X__ industry
__._ invention

_.__ landscape architecture.__ religion
law
literature
military
music
philosophy
politics/government

science
__ sculpture 
__ social/

humanitarian 
__ theater 
__ transportation 
__ other (specify)

Specific dates 1910 Builder/Architect unknown

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The Baird Hardware Company was a major commercial enterprise in the 
Gainesville area for ninety years. Established in 1891 as E. Baird and 
Company, the firm employed, at its peak in the 1950"s, over 100 people, 
stocked over 35,000 items, and grossed over $4 million per year through 
retail sales and wholesale distribution throughout North Central Florida. 
Its fortunes declined thereafter, and the company was liquidated in 1980.

The company was initially established as a co-partnership in 1890 
or 1891 by Eberle Baird, Thomas J. Swearingeii and J. R^ Eddins, "for the 
purpose of supplying the public with hardware, stoves, tin and graniteware, 
house furnishing goods, etc." Baird, an Ohio native who moved to Florida 
in 1881, had been successfully engaged in the lumbering and sawmilling 
industry. Under his direction, and with the impetus of the Florida 
phosphate boom in the mid-1890's, the company prospered, and the Gaines­ 
ville Sun reported in its December 18, 1897 issue that "The firm is 
enterprising, and their energy has given them prestige in supplying the 
phosphate plants in Alachua and Levy counties. They carry everything in 
the hardware line."

In April, 1900 the firm was incorporated as the Baird Hardware Co., 
with "plumbing, steam and gas fitting in this State or elsewhere" among 
its objectives. By 1905, the firm occupied two separate warehouses as 
well as a downtown retail outlet and warehouse. By 1910 its growing 
business required the construction of additional warehouse and wholesale 
distribution facility to serve both its retail outlets in Gainesville and 
other communities, and its expanding wholesale business in some twenty 
North Florida counties.

The site of the new warehouse was chosen specifically for its access 
to the major rail lines serving the community. The construction of the 
first railroad through the area by the Florida Railroad Company in 1859 was 
primarily responsible for the founding of the town of Gainesville and the 
relocation of the county seat to this new community. This line became 
a part of the Seaboard Airline Railroad in 1903. 6 Additional rail service 
was provided in 1881 by the Florida Southern Railway and the Savannah, 
Florida and Western Railway, which later became part of the Plant System, 
and merged with the Atlantic Coast Line Railroad in 1902. The site of 
the new Baird warehouse was located near the crossover of the SAL and ACL 
main lines and was accessible by existing spurs from each which had 
served a major cotton gin destroyed by fire in 1907.

(See Continuation Sheet)
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Baird Hardware Company acquired the property for $6,000 in 1908, 
and built its new brick warehouse two years later.

The Company continued to thrive and to expand its operations. In 
1924 its charter was amended to increase the amount of capital stock 
authorized from $50,000 to $200,000 and the amount of indebtedness allow­ 
able from $25,000 to $100,000, and to include automobile accessories
and marine supplies among its many products lines 
its retail facilities were substantially expanded.

10
11

At this time, too,

Eberle Baird died in February, 1930, 12 and C. Addison Pound became 
President of the company two months later. Pound had joined the firm in 
1908, at the age of 18, and had worked his way up through the retail 
and wholesales ranks to become Secretary of the firm and a member of its 
Board of Directors in 1917 and Vice President in 1919. By 1930, he had 
also become a leading figure in economic and civic affairs in the community, 
was involved in several major real estate developments and served terms 
as president of the Rotary Club and the Chamber of Commerce. ^

Pound led the Company successfully through the early years of the 
Depression. By 1938 sales had regained the peak levels of the mid-1920's, 
and the volume of business virtually doubled during World War II, with 
the rapid development of military training facilities and expansion of 
civilian communities to support them. In the post war years, the Company 
continued to prosper under Pond's direction, with several major moderni­ 
zation and expansion projects being completed between 1946 and 1954.

Much of this prosperity was due to the sale of marine supplies, 
particularly Mercury outboard motors. The Baird Hardware Company had been 
the exclusive distributor for the Johnson Outboard Motor Company in Florida 
form the mid 1920's until 1936 when Johnson initiated its own direct 
distribution to retailers. Baird then took on the Champion and Mercury 
lines, eventually concentrating its efforts on Mercury products. This 
business expanded rapidly after World War II, and in 1950, the first full 
railroad carload of Mercury motors was received at the Baird Hardware 
Warehouse in Gainesville (Photo 14). Throughout the 1950's, Mercury 
motors destined for all points in Florida passed through the Warehouse, 
making up a major share of the marine supply business, which in turn
accounted for some 45% of the Baird Company's annual sales 15

But in 1960, the Mercury Company, too, established its own direct 
distribution system. This meant the loss of $2.25 million annually to 
Baird Hardware Company. This major blow was followed by a series of

less: ayamatic developments tha.t adversely affected the Company. These
the development of outlying shopping malls, which hurt the firm's

CSee Continuation Sheet)
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retail sales, and increasing competition from national chain wholesalers. 
As a result, the retail marine business was closed out in 1964, retail 
auto supply sales followed in 1966, and on April 1, 1967 all retail sales 
were closed down.

In the me.antime, C. A. Pound, Sr. had retured, and C. A. Pound, Jr.
1 o

had assumed the presidency of the Company. He believed that the firm 
could survive only through a major restructuring of its operations and 
the complete replacement of its obsolete warehouses with a single modern 
facility. The alternative, which he considered more prudent, was the 
liquidation of the Company's assets. Accordingly, he supervised the 
gradual disposition of the various properties of the firm throughout 
the 1970's, and the final liquidation of its remaining inventory and 
fixtures in 1980. On January 1, 1981, the Baird Hardware Company ceased 
to exist as a corporate entity.

The Baird Hardware Company Warehouse, the only surviving building 
associated with the Company, was donated to the University of Florida to 
benefit the C. Addison Pound, Sr. and Annie C. Pound Endowment Fund in 
the College of Business Administration and the C. Addison Pound, Jr. 
Engineering Scholarship Fund. In September, 1981, the property was 
purchased by Akira and Associates, Ltd. for rehabilitation for adaptive 
reuse. Today, the building continues its active life, housing office, 
studio spaces, and a specialty woodworking shop. It has been renamed 
Baird Center, commemorating its original function and the role of Baird 
Hardware Company in the historic development of the community.
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